FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/9/2020 8:00 AM
Supreme Court No. 98263-5

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COA No. 36040-7-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

EDWARD A. MILLER,

Respondent,

and

RITA L. YTURRI-SMITH,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARY SCHULTZ

Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 (509) 245-3522, Ext. 306

Attorney for Petitioner

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Husband Ed Miller (Miller) and wife Rita Yturri-Smith (Smith) began accruing community property within a committed intimate relationship (CIR) commencing in 2003. Opinion at page. 3. By 2005, Miller, now a sole owner of a small advertising company, had accrued customer accounts across the country, including accounts in San Francisco, Chicago, and Los Angeles. RP 844-845. Miller had "opened up an Atlanta office." RP 846-847. In December 2007, Miller sold his business under a contract to a buyer called Ascentium. Ex. 361, with certain relevant pages only attached at App. B. Miller committed to a nationwide three year noncompete and non-solicitation agreement as a material term of the sale. *Id.* at section 5.5(b) and (c). Section 5.5 is the only section in the contract deemed "material and of essence to [the] agreement." *Id.*, section 5.5(f). The buyer "would not have entered into this Agreement but for the covenants and agreements contained in this Section 5.5." Id., section 5.5(a)(iv). The non-compete provision "induce[d] Buyer to enter into this Agreement." *Id.* The consideration given by the buyer explicitly "reflects and assumes Shareholder's strict compliance with, and the enforceability by

the Company and Buyer of these restrictions." *Id. at 5.5(e)*. Section 5.5's restrictions were "necessary" to the transaction. Id. Miller's counsel confirmed that the sale price being negotiated was intended to permanently remove Miller from the advertising market (i.e., "Taking you out of the market.") Ex. 359(a) at 935, 936. The obligation not to compete would be an obligation upon Miller during marital earning years. Miller also agreed to work with the buyer to transition all of his client base to the company during the course of his non-compete. Ex. 361, App. B, at 996. The sale contract was entitled "Stock Purchase Agreement," and liberally referenced Miller as the shareholder. See, e.g. section 5.4. But there were no stock certificates to transfer. Part of the sale required that Miller certify that there were no stock certificates. *Id. at section 6.7.* Miller never fulfilled that requirement. RP 1527-1528. The buyer paid him anyway. CP 623, FOF (D)(11). The buyer made the payments over the duration of the noncompete from 2007 through 2010. Opinion at 7; CP 625, FOF (D)(11).

Division III upheld the trial court's ruling that this contract effected only a stock sale, not a sale of marital earnings. *Opinion*, Issue 1, pages 19-24. It agreed that the language of the contract "bolsters Smith's argument" regarding the non-compete and non-solicitation clauses being a material term of the agreement, but it concluded that the contract language "did not

read that Miller's promise was the only material or essential term." *Opinion* at 23.

As to the issue of what stock may have sold in this sale, the parties' 2007 joint tax return shows that Miller sold the buyer stock he acquired in 2007 during the marriage. Specifically, the original stock Miller acquired in 1993 had a \$0 cost basis—Miller received it for nothing. RP 99. According to his 2007 joint tax return, the stock that Miller sold in 2007 had a cost basis of \$359,850. Opinion at 6; and see App. C, Ex. 323, extracted page 533 only (installment sale schedule). Miller's accountant testified inconsistently as to how this new cost basis arose. Opinion at 12-13, and 26. She testified that Miller loaned his earnings of \$375,000² to his corporation on November 30, 2005 for its operating expenses, and in 2007, instead of repaying him those wages, his corporation applied \$359,850 of his wage loan to the "acquisition" of 458 shares. RP 130: 14-24. Opinion pp. 4-5; and Issue 2, pp. 24-26. At Miller's lawyer's behest, she altered this--the 2005 wage loan went both "toward the acquisition of the stock or ... towards creating additional stockholder's equity...Correct." Foltz at RP 130: 25 - RP 131:8. Miller's counsel offered: "Let's start over:"

Q: Did this \$359,850 get applied towards the acquisition of any shares?

² RP 110-111.

A: No.

RP 131: 11-12. The accountant then stated that the shareholder loan was "converted" to "paid-in capital." RP 133-134. The wage loan was repaid to Miller ("reduced by") his paid in capital "dollar for dollar." RP 134: 12-14. The funds "add(ed) to the stockholder equity by that amount." 135:5-8. That \$359, 850 of earnings recapitalization gave Miller his new cost \$359,850 cost basis in his stock, which he then sold, taking that tax benefit from the stepped up basis.³

What is not in dispute, then, is that \$359,850 of Miller's earnings during the marriage were kept by his corporation, and the corporation repaid those wages either by issuing Miller new shares with a stepped-up cost basis, or by entirely recapitalizing his old stock to gain a new cost basis, which would then reduce his (the parties') capital gains tax on the

⁽Schultz) "Q: What sold in 2007 between Ed and Ascentium, Ms. Foltz, was not Ed's percent with a cost basis of 0; it was stock that had a cost basis of \$359,850, correct? (CPA Foltz) A: Correct.

Q: Whatever happened to this \$0 cost basis stopped, it kind of went away, because in 2007 the stock that was sold to Ascentium had a cost basis of what? Was it 359-something?

A: Yes....it's on the installment schedule.

Q: P-4 at 43. That's his tax return. \$359,850. Is that right?

A: Yes.

Q: And that \$359,850 cost basis was for a hundred percent of the stock, wasn't it?

A: Yes.

Q: Where did that \$359,850 come from?

A: Shareholder loan."

2007 sale of that stock. *App. C, Ex. 323: 8, 10 and 14.* Division III held that "On November 30, 2007, the corporation converted the shareholder loan to \$359,850 in additional paid-in capital." *Opinion* at 25. Without cite to tax law authority, it then held that "[T]he loan increased Miller's tax basis for the stock, *but the change in basis does not equate to a change in the value of the stock, a sale of the stock, or a transfer of the stock.*" *Opinion* at 26, Issue 2 (emphasis added). Smith asserts that this ruling is in direct conflict with the federal tax law, and that by failing to apply the latter, the ruling conflicts with Supreme Court precedent holding that property acquired during the marriage and sourced by community earnings is community property. She asserts that whether this stepped-up cost basis used in the parties' 2007 joint tax return arose from newly acquired stock via earnings or from newly recapitalized stock via those earnings, either use rendered that stock community property.

The third marital property characterization issue presented is that of post-separation term fire insurance proceeds. Following the parties' separation, the home owned by Miller and Smith sustained fire damage. *Opinion* at 8. Smith had been paying the term fire insurance policy premiums post-separation with her maintenance income, and she asserted that those policy proceeds were her separate proceeds. This gave her a

discernible value of her separate contribution to that home, even if her labor in managing the reconstruction was not so valued. *Opinion* at 28-20, *Issue* 4. Division III disagreed, and held that term fire insurance proceeds take on the underlying character of the property insured, not the source of the premium payments made. Division III 's ruling conflicts with *Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Wadsworth*, 102 Wn.2d 652, 689, P.2d 46 (1984). *Opinion* at 28-29.

V. <u>ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED UNDER RAP 13.4 (b)(1).</u>

Three marital property characterization rulings made by Division III are in direct conflict with Supreme Court precedent, and Petitioner requests review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Division III fails to apply the presumption established by this Supreme Court—that property "acquired" during marriage is presumptively community property, regardless of how title is held. *Dean v. Lehman*, 143 Wn.2d 12, 21, 18 P.3d 523, 529 (2001), at 19, *referencing* RCW 26.16.030.

A. A spouse's sale of their marital earning capacity by entering into a non-compete agreement during marriage is the sale of community property.

Division III holds that a spouse's entry into a non-compete agreement during marital years does not render the funds received for that

non-compete agreement community property. While Washington does not have precedent directly on point in the marital dissolution law, the ruling conflicts with well-established Supreme Court precedent holding that a party's labor is community property, as are that party's earnings from labor. In re Marriage of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807, 810, 699 P.2d 214 (1985). A salary is unquestionably community property. Hamlin v. Merlino, 44 Wn.2d 851, 858, 272 P.2d 125 (1954). Moreover, a marital community is entitled to the fruits of each party's labor. Lindemann v. Lindemann, 92 Wn. App. 64, 68 (1998). A spouse's contractual agreement to cease their marital earning and labor during the marital years in exchange for money must then necessarily render that money community property. The "sale" of a spouse's wage earning capacity is the sale of community property. Moreover, Supreme Court precedent holds that property is deemed "acquired" when the obligation is undertaken. In re Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484, 219 P.3d 932 (2009). In 2007, Miller took on an obligation to cease work for three years during the marriage in exchange for money. He thereby committed himself to a three year obligation, and "acquired" those funds in exchange for that obligation, which he then performed over the ensuing marital years. Division III's ruling is in conflict with In re Estate of Borghi as well, because it ignores

the obligation taken on over the marital years.

Supreme Court precedent readily characterizes lost wages under its tort law. Recovery for lost wages and diminished earning capacity is community property. Brown v. Brown, 100 Wn.2d 729, 739, 675 P.2d 1207, 1213 (1984). Tort damages which compensate for services or earnings lost by the community are community property. Brewer v. Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 767-68, 976 P.2d 102 (1999). Moreover, other states' appellate courts have specifically addressed the issue of noncompete clauses in marital property law in the manner urged by Smith. In Cirrito v. Cirrito, 44 Va. App. 287, 292 (2004), a Virginia court analogized funds paid in exchange for a non-compete agreement to a severance package, and held that money acquired "for not competing (with a prior employer)" is "within the definition of marital property since the right to receive the money was acquired during the marriage and is not separate property." In Grigsby v. Grigsby, 648 N.W.2d 716, 723 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002), a Minnesota appellate court held that a spouse's forbearance of earnings under a non-compete agreement takes on the character of the labor being relinquished, and where payments made for such forbearance stem from the husband's marital employment, the payments thereby take the purpose of marital earnings. In Demont v. Demont, 67 So. 3d 1096, 11051106 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011), a Florida court held that payments made in exchange for a non-compete or forbearance of earnings during a marriage are marital property. Division III's ruling conflicts with all of the foregoing in its failure to recognize the community obligation undertaken and performed in exchange for the funds received.

Moreover, Division III held that evidence existed to support the premise that the husband had planned to retire on the sale, and that the payments therefore did not replace work earnings. Opinion at 22. But Demont finds this sort of reasoning flawed. Demont holds that "in no reasonable way can the non-compete/non-solicit payments be described as 'like retirement.'" *Id.* at 1106. This is because "payment to an employee to honor a covenant not to compete is not a retirement fund based on past labor and services." *Id.* Such agreements obligate a spouse for the duration of the agreement—such an agreement will "require that the spouse not engage in post-agreement competitive practices against the employer." *Id.* A non-compete is therefore expressly not a retirement—it is an obligation to which a spouse becomes bound over the course of the contractual term. Demont is in accord with this Supreme Court's ruling in Borghi, 167 Wn. 2d. at 484. Division III's holding that a spouse's sale of their marital earning ability does not create community property conflicts with this

Supreme Court's precedent and should be reviewed per RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Moreover, Division III's construction of the sale contract conflicts with Supreme Court precedent in *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503–04, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005). Division III ignores the sales contract's "materiality" terms. But the parties' intent in contracting is to be determined by focusing on the objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties. *Id.* The court is not to interpret what was intended to be written, but what was written. *Id.* Here, the contract before Division III objectively and repeatedly declares that the material and necessary term of the sale agreement was the husband's commitment to the nationwide three year noncompete and non-solicitation agreement. *App. A, Ex. 361 at Section 5.5(b)* and (c). ⁴ Division III's ruling that this determinative contractual noncompete obligation may be disregarded in a dissolution proceeding conflicts with *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc.* and should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

_

⁴ As noted above, Section 5.5 is the only section specifically deemed "material and of essence to [the] agreement." *Id.*, *Section 5.5(f)*. The contract makes objectively clear that the buyer "would not have entered into this Agreement but for the covenants and agreements contained in this Section 5.5." *Id.*, *Section 5.5(a)(iv)*. The non-compete provision "induce[d] Buyer to enter into this Agreement." *Id.* The consideration given by the buyer explicitly "reflects and assumes Shareholder's strict compliance with, and the enforceability by the Company and Buyer of these restrictions." *Id. at 5.5(e)*. Section 5.5's restrictions were "necessary" to the transaction. *Id.*, *Section 5.5(e)*.

B. <u>A spouse's recapitalization of corporate stock during marriage</u> <u>using community wages creates community property stock.</u>

Division III's decision also conflicts with this Supreme Court precedent in *In re Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d 213, 223, 978 P.2d 498, 503 (1999), and *In re Marriage of Short*, 125 Wn.2d 865, 870, 890 P.2d 12 (1995), which hold that property acquired during a marriage is presumed to be community in character. Division III's holding that stock acquired during a marriage with community wages, or, alternatively, that stock recapitalized during a marriage with community wages, can remain a party's preexisting separate stock under the facts here is in conflict with these rulings.

Specifically, Miller was deemed to have sold stock in the 2007 Ascentium transaction. But the parties' 2007 joint tax return is determinative evidence of community property characterization of that stock as a matter of law, because that tax return confirmed a stepped up cost basis from a funding transaction in 2007. *Exhibit 323, with the determinative installment sale schedule at App. C.*

A stock's "cost basis" as represented on a federal tax return is controlling as to the identity of the *specific* stock that sold. *Davidson v*. *Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 305 U.S. 44, 45, 59 S. Ct. 43, 83 L. Ed. 31 (1938). A cost basis identifies the acquisition date by identifying the cost

of the specific stock sold- the cost basis. Individuals may buy the same company's stock at different times, and then later sell specific units of that stock. The cost basis will thus denote which of that company's specific stock was sold in that transaction, and the seller is taxed on that specific gain. While the parties' tax schedule for the sale represented at line 2a that the stock being sold was acquired on "1/01/93," the representations that delivered the tax benefit are the ensuing "cost basis" lines 8 and 10. These lines report the cost basis identifying what stock sold, and it is that steppedup cost basis that lowered the community's taxable gain on the sale of that stock. Thus, even if the 2007 sales contact was in part a stock sale, the stock that sold was community property stock, because the stock sold had a stepped up cost basis, signifying a new acquisition of stock in 2007. Division III's ruling that "the change in basis does not equate to a change in the value of the stock, a sale of the stock, or a transfer of the stock," Opinion at 26, conflicts with the foregoing federal tax law, and thereby conflicts with Supreme Court precedent as to the acquisition date of, and characterization of, marital property from the acquisition date, per Zahm and *Short*, supra. It should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Cost basis manipulation to lessen tax on stock sales is well known, as is simple error as to which stock is being sold. An individual may identify stock he or she believes they are selling, but "it does not follow that they were the shares sold." *Davidson*, 305 U.S. at 46. "The commissioner rightly computed gain on the basis of what was done rather than on what petitioner intended to do." *Id.*, and see Turan v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 114 T.C.M. (CCH) 65 (T.C. 2017), citing Davidson, 305 U.S. at 46 (holding that as a general rule, when taxpayers hold multiple lots or shares of identical stock, they must compute their gains or losses against the basis of those shares actually sold, not the shares the taxpayer intended to sell.)

Parties often attempt to gain a stepped-up cost basis in corporate stock in corporate acquisitions and mergers. *See, e.g., PIA-Asheville, Inc. v. Bowen,* 850 F.2d 739 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (disallowing the use of a stepped-up cost basis in a "two-step acquisition" where the acquirer purchased stock of a corporation and followed the purchase with liquidation and distribution of the acquired company's assets to the acquirer himself); *Supreme Inv. Corp. v. United States,* 468 F.2d 370, 377 (5th Cir. 1972) (holding that a purchase of a corporation's stock is to be treated as a direct purchase of the assets, with the consequence that the cost of the stock should serve as the basis for the assets); *Richey Manor, Inc. v. Schweiker,* 684 F.2d 130, 132–33 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (noting that "the price paid by the purchaser shall be

the cost basis in a bona fide sale for fair market value). Intentionally inflating the basis of stock to eliminate capital gains and thereby avoid taxes can be penalized. *Stobie Creek Investments LLC v. United States*, 608 F.3d 1366, 1369 (Fed. Cir. 2010).

Here, Miller sold stock using a stepped-up cost basis for tax benefit, and in doing so, he confirmed that this stock was acquired in 2007. Division III's holding fails to apply this acquisition date.

Similarly, "recapitalization" of stock signifies the equivalent of new stock being exchanged for old stock. *Heady v. C.I.R.*, 162 F.2d 699, 700–01 (7th Cir. 1947)(where recapitalization "consisted of the issuance of 1000 shares of new capital stock having a par value of one dollar a shareto be exchanged for the 1000 shares of the old no-par value stock.") Recapitalization can also denote a statutory reorganization. *Id* at 701. In fact, the general definition of a recapitalization is a "reshuffling of a capital structure within the framework of an existing corporation." *Berner v. United States*, 282 F.2d 720, 725 (Ct. Cl. 1960), citing to *Helvering v. Southwest Consolidated Corp.*, 315 U.S. 194, 202, 62 S.Ct. 546, 86 L.Ed. 789. Recapitalization "may generally be taken as signifying," e.g., "an agreement of all stockholders and creditors to change and increase or decrease the capitalization or debts of the corporation or both." *United Gas*

Improvement Co. v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 142 F.2d 216, 218 (3d Cir. 1944). The recapitalization thus argued by Miller and accepted by Division III changed the capital structure of that corporate stock in accord with its recapitalization by community wages. Division III's holding ignores this fundamental change in the stock character by recapitalization.

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