# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/8/2020 4:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98263-5

COA No. 360407-III

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Marriage of

EDWARD A. MILLER,

Respondent,

and

RITA L. YTURRI-SMITH,

Petitioner.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Valerie D. McOmie WSBA No. 33240 4549 NW Aspen Street Camas, WA 98607 (360) 852-3332 Daniel E. Huntington WSBA No. 8277 422 Riverside, Suite 1300 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 455-4201

Attorneys for Respondent Edward A. Miller

#### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Smith cites three rulings by Division III that she maintains are in "direct conflict" with this Court's precedent, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).<sup>3</sup> Pet. at 7. However, none of these issues involve legal rulings in conflict with this Court's precedent. Review is unwarranted.

#### A. Standard Of Review And Applicable Law.

The character of property is established at the time of acquisition. See Schwarz v. Schwarz, 192 Wn. App. 180, 189, 368 P.3d 173 (2016). Property acquired before marriage is separate property. See In re Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn. App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447 (2000) (citing RCW 26.16.010). Once the separate character of property is established, there is a presumption that it remains separate property, and a spouse asserting that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Smith also seeks fees. *See* Pet. at 2. She does not argue, however, that the lower courts' rulings regarding fees provide an independent basis for review. *See* Pet. at 2, 19-20.

separate property has been transmuted has the burden of proving the transfer by clear and convincing evidence. *See In re Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484, 219 P.3d 932 (2009).

While the ultimate characterization of property is a question of law, legal characterization of property as community or separate by the trial court generally presents a mixed question of law and fact. *See Schwarz*, 192 Wn. App. at 191-92. Whether a party is able to overcome a rebuttable presumption of community or separate character is a question of fact. *See id.* at 192. An appellate court will review the findings of fact supporting a trial court's characterization for substantial evidence. *See id.* 

# B. The 2007 Sale Of Miller.WhiteRunkle To Ascentium Corporation Was A Stock Sale And Not A Sale Of Marital Earning Power.

Smith first argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedent "holding that a party's labor is community property, as are the party's earnings from labor." Pet. at 8. Her argument challenges the appellate court's ruling upholding the trial court's finding that the 2007 sale of MWR was a sale of stock and not a sale of Miller's future earnings. She claims: "Division III holds that a spouse's entry into a non-compete agreement during marital years does not render the funds received for that non-compete agreement community property." Pet. at 7-8.

Smith mischaracterizes Division III's holding, however. The Court of Appeals recognized that the resolution of the issue rested on a finding of

fact by the trial court that was supported by substantial evidence. The Court of Appeals actually held:

We agree with Rita Smith that earnings arising from a spouse's services performed during the marriage constitute community property. Nevertheless, the dissolution [trial] court concluded, based on clear and convincing evidence, "that the sale was a stock sale and not a payment for future wages or some other characterization." CP 624-25. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings.

Miller, 2020 WL 589544 at \*10 (brackets added).

At trial, Smith argued the 2007 sale of MWR to Ascentium constituted the sale of Miller's "marital earning power" from 2008 - 2011, and was therefore community property. Miller argued that what he sold was his ownership in a successful advertising firm with substantial revenues, and he did not sell future earnings because he intended to retire. The evidence at trial was that MWR's total assets were over \$1.4M, with recent annual revenues of \$6-7M. The sale agreement was entitled "Stock Purchase Agreement." Miller and Smith's tax returns from 2007-2010 recorded the sale as a sale of stock or asset sale. Miller offered expert testimony from CPA Zoe Foltz regarding the nature of the 2007 Sale. Miller testified that upon the sale of MWR, he did not intend to continue working because his plan was to retire. Based on the evidence, the trial court found that the 2007 sale was a sale of stock and not a sale of future earnings.

Smith insists that the 2007 SPA constituted a sale of future earnings because the noncompete provision in § 5.5, which appears on page 20 of the 32-page SPA, "is the only section specifically deemed 'material and of essence to [the] agreement." Pet. at 11 n.4. But this argument overlooks both

the structure of the agreement and the facts surrounding its execution. In MWR, Ascentium obtained a valuable corporate concern that generated substantial income. While Ascentium did not enter into the agreement to purchase Miller's forbearance, as the salesman who secured its most lucrative accounts, his forbearance from competing with Ascentium after the sale was arguably necessary to protect the value of Ascentium's asset purchase. This reading of the contract finds support in the non-compete section of the SPA, which explains that Ascentium desired to purchase MWR assets, and that Miller's forbearance was "necessary to protect the goodwill, trade secrets, confidential or proprietary information, and other legitimate interests of the Company and buyer." Ex. R 361 at 972 § 5.5(e). Smith's reliance on selected portions of the non-compete fails to read the contract as a whole and ignores the circumstances surrounding the sale.

Appellant cites *Cirrito v. Cirrito*, 605 S.E.2d 268 (Va. 2004) and *Grigsby v. Grigsby*, 648 N.W.2d 716, 723 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002), apparently to demonstrate instances in which courts have found that a spouse's forbearance of work constituted community property. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 9. Both cases are unhelpful to the question here, which is whether, as a matter of fact, Miller sold future earnings. In *Cirrito* and *Grigsby*, it was understood that the agreements constituted the sale of future earnings; the question there was whether the earnings accrued during the marriage.

Smith also cites *Demont v. Demont*, 67 So.3d 1096 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011), arguing that decision finds "flawed" the rulings below

regarding the 2007 sale and the relevance of Miller's intent to retire. However, Smith's argument both misconstrues *Demont* and misapprehends the relevance of Miller's intent to retire. In *Demont*, around the time the parties separated, the husband executed a separation agreement with his employer that included a noncompete agreement. One payment under the agreement was to be paid in exchange for the husband's agreement not to compete after the couple's date of separation. The trial court likened the non-compete payment to a retirement package and deemed it a marital asset. Demont, 67 So.3d at 1106. The appellate court reversed. It held that "in no reasonable way can the non-compete/non-solicit payments be described as 'like retirement.'" Id., 67 So.3d at 1106. It was undisputed that the payment received by the husband was paid by his previous employer in consideration for his agreement not to compete. In contrast, in this case Miller was not negotiating with a previous employer and he has never contended that the proceeds of the 2007 sale operated like a retirement package. The issue here related to the nature of the 2007 sale, and what the primary assets were that each party desired and obtained. Miller's intent to retire was simply relevant evidence that Miller did not forego future work in the exchange.

Contracting parties' intent is gleaned from the "objective manifestations of the agreement." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). Contracts are read as a whole, and where ambiguity exists, extrinsic evidence is admissible. *See Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 502. In interpreting contracts, the trial court must

identify and adopt the meaning that reflects the parties' intent; the appellate court reviews the trial court's decision for substantial evidence. *See In re Marriage of Boisen*, 87 Wn. App. 912, 920-21, 943 P.2d 682 (1997).

Here, based on the evidence at trial, including the terms of the 2007 SPA, the tax returns, the testimony of Miller and the testimony of CPA Zoe Foltz, the trial court found that "the evidence was clear and convincing that the sale was a stock sale and not payment for future wages or some other characterization." CP 624, FOF ¶ 22 D.9. The appellate court correctly held that there was substantial evidence to support this finding.

C. The Proceeds Of The 2007 Ascentium Sale Were Miller's Separate Property Because The MWR Stock Sold To Ascentium Was Traceable To The 458 Shares Miller Acquired In 1993, Before The Relationship With Smith Began.

Alternatively, Smith contends that even if what Miller sold in 2007 was his 458 shares in MWR and not future earnings, the shares were community property because they were transmuted from a separate to a community asset by operation of the 2005 wage bonus that was retained by MWR and later converted to paid in capital. Smith contends that review is warranted because Division III's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *In re Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d 213, 223, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) and *In re Marriage of Short*, 125 Wn.2d 865, 870, 890 P.2d 12 (1995), "which hold that property acquired during a marriage is presumed to be community in character." Pet. at 12.

But the court's ruling is consistent with *Zahm* and *Short*. Smith's argument was rejected not because the trial court ignored this rule of law,

but because there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that the shares sold in 2007 were acquired in 1993, and that the later contribution to paid in capital did not constitute a purchase of new stock. The appellate court actually held that "[t]he dissolution court, based on the evidence as a whole, could reasonably conclude that the wage bonus did not purchase any of the corporate stock." *Miller*, 2020 WL 589544 at \*10 (brackets added). The court's opinion does not conflict with any decision of this Court.

Smith cites *Davidson v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 305 U.S. 44, 45, 59 S. Ct. 43, 83 L. Ed 31 (1938) and *Turan v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 2017 WL 3034639, 114 T.C.M. (CCH) 65 (T.C. 2017) for the proposition that a "stock's 'cost basis' as represented on a federal tax return is controlling as to the identity of the *specific* stock sold." Pet. at 12. However, *Davidson* and *Turan* simply hold that when taxpayers hold multiple lots of stock, they must compute their gains or losses according to the basis of the stock actually sold. *See Davidson*, 305 U.S. at 46; *Turan*, 2017 WL 3034639, at \*2. Neither case holds or even suggests that investing additional funds in existing shares constitutes a new acquisition of stock.<sup>4</sup>

Smith also argues that the loan converted to paid in capital constituted a "recapitalization" and this effectuated a transmutation from separate to community property as a matter of law. Pet. at 12-17. She cites

<sup>4</sup> Smith cites a number of cases for the proposition that parties "often attempt to gain a stepped-up cost basis in corporate stock in corporate acquisitions and mergers." Pet. at 14-

15. These general propositions are undisputed and irrelevant to her claim here.

14

a number of cases that describe circumstances in which stock is deemed to be "recapitalized." See Pet. at 15-16 (citing Heady v. C.I.R., 162 F.2d 699 (7th Cir. 1947), Berner v. United States, 282 F.2d 720, 725 (Ct. Cl. 1960) and United Gas Improvement Co. v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue, 142 F.2d 216, 218 (3d Cir. 1944)). In these cases, status as recapitalization was critical because it triggered tax consequences. See, e.g., United Gas *Improvement*, 142 F.2d at 218 (status of transaction as recapitalization relevant to recognition of gains or losses for tax purposes); Helvering v. Southwest Consolidated Corp., 315 U.S. 194, 201-02, 62 S.Ct. 546, 86 L.Ed. 789 (1942) (recapitalization relevant to whether under 26 U.S.C. § 368 corporate transaction was exempt from taxation). None of these cases hold, or even address, whether paying additional capital into existing stock effectuates a new stock acquisition for community property purposes. And this makes sense; while federal statutory law governs tax issues, legal issues surrounding ownership rights in a dissolution proceeding are matters of state law. See U.S. v. Mitchell, 403 U.S. 190, 197, 91 S.Ct. 1763, 29 L.Ed.2d 406 (1971) (recognizing that in resolving the tax implications after a dissolution, "state law controls" issues of property ownership, "but the federal statute determines when and how they shall be taxed").

Community property law in Washington is fundamentally a creature of statute. *See Bortle v. Osborne*, 155 Wash. 585, 596, 285 P. 425 (1930). RCW 26.16.010 defines separate property as property "owned by a spouse before marriage and that acquired by him or her afterwards by gift, bequest,

devise, descent, or inheritance, with the rents, issues and profits thereof." In applying statutory provisions, this Court recognizes the "general rule" that the character of an asset is determined "at the time legal title (and ownership) is obtained." *In re Marriage of Chumbley*, 150 Wn.2d 1, 8, 74 P.3d 129 (2003). Separate property continues to be separate through all its changes and transitions so long as it can be clearly identified; profits from separate property remain separate property. *See Hamlin v. Merlino*, 44 Wn.2d 851, 857, 272 P.2d 125 (1954). In Washington, the general rule is that where a spouse establishes the separate character of an asset, a subsequent community contribution does not effectuate a transmutation of the property's character from separate to community. *See Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d at 491 n.7.

Here, the court found that the proceeds of the 2007 sale were acquired with Miller's separate interest in the 458 shares he received in 1993. CPA Foltz testified that Miller's 458 shares from 1993 were the same shares he sold to Ascentium in 2007, and he did not acquire new stock when MWR converted the wage bonus to paid in capital. This process altered Miller's cost basis for tax purposes but not his ownership interest in MWR.<sup>5</sup> Substantial evidence supported the trial court's consistent finding.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Under Washington law, "shares" are generally understood as the measure of proprietary ownership in a company. *See* RCW 23B.01.400 (defining "shares" as "the units into which the proprietary interests in a corporation are divided"). Federal tax law provides that "cost basis" determines capital gains for tax purposes. *See* 26 U.S.C. 1012, § I.R.C. 1012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Smith also argues that Miller is "estopped" from arguing the proceeds of the 2007 sale are his separate property. See Pet. at 16-17. This argument essentially re-fashions the basic premise of Smith's prior arguments, which is that declaring a stepped-up cost basis in the 458 shares of MWR "identified" the stock sold as stock newly "acquired" with the loan converted to paid in capital. But as the trial court found and for the additional reasons

D. The Trial Court Correctly Applied *Hickman* And Awarded The Fire Insurance Proceeds To Miller and Smith According To Their Proportionate Share Of The Insured Assets, But Even Under The Rule In *Aetna*, The Trial Court's Award Would Be Proper.

Smith also challenges the Court of Appeals' decision upholding the trial court's characterization of the fire insurance proceeds. The trial court recognized the rule that ""[f]ire insurance proceeds stand in the place and stead of the property insured and partake of the same character." CP 628, FOF ¶ 22 G.2 (brackets added) (quoting *In re Hickman's Estate*, 41 Wn.2d 519, 523, 250 P.2d 524 (1952)). The trial court awarded the structural damage funds based on the parties' proportionate ownership in the home. CP 629, FOF ¶ G.15. Regarding the contents, the trial court noted no segregation had been conducted, treated the contents as community property and awarded each party half of the proceeds. CP 629, FOF ¶ G.13.

Smith insists *Hickman* was overruled by *Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Wadsworth*, 102 Wn.2d 652, 659-60, 689 P.2d 46 (1984). She claims entitlement to the entire proceeds because pursuant to the trial court's temporary order from August of 2014, she indirectly paid the premiums for the relevant term in the form of maintenance payments. *See* Pet. at 6-7, 17-19; *see also* App. Op. Br. at 34 (citing CP 47). Smith is incorrect on both the law and the facts.

First, *Hickman* remains good law and was not overruled by *Aetna*. In *Aetna*, this Court held that "the character of funds used to pay the most

detailed in this Answer, *see supra* at §§ II and IV.C, the additional paid-in capital did not constitute an acquisition of new stock, but merely a step up in cost basis for tax purposes.

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